TURNING UP THE HEAT:
THE SEC’S NEW TEMPORARY FREEZE AUTHORITY

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002' authorizes the Securities and Ex-
change Commission to seek a temporary order freezing “extraordinary
payments” by a publicly-traded company to its directors, officers, or em-
ployees.” The Commission has sought a temporary freeze of extraordinary
payments to the executives of three issuers: HealthSouth Corporation,’
Vivendi Universal,' and Gemstar.” This Comment analyzes the Section
1103 temporary freeze authority within the context of the Commission’s
previously existing power to enforce the federal securities laws as well as to
assure recovery for defrauded investors. Part 1 provides a general frame-
work regarding the SEC’s ability to seek injunctions and asset freezes and
its statutory authority to issue cease-and-desist orders. Part IT discusses the
recent extension of this authority via Section 1103, and Part IIf analyzes the
three cases in which it has been used. Part IV summarizes thoughts about
the new authority’s potential and limitations.

1. ExisTING SEC ENFORCEMENT REMEDIES

Prior to the enactment of Sarbanes-Oxley, the SEC possessed various
enforcement remedies. Especially relevant to understanding the new Section
1103 authority is the Commission’s authority to seek injunctions, asset
freezes, and cease-and-desist orders.®

A. Injunctions
The permanent injunction has served as the SEC’s primary enforcement

mechanism since the agency’s creation.” The authority is found in all six
major securities laws enacted during the 1930s.® These provisions authorize

1.  Pub. L. No. 107-204, 116 Stat. 745 (codified as amended in scattered sections of 15 U.S.C.).

2. Id. § 1103, 116 Stat. at 807-08 (codified as amended at 15 U.S.C. § 78u-3(c) (2002)).

3. HealthSouth, SEC Litipation Release No. 18044 (Mar. 20, 2003), http://www.sec.gov/litigati
on/litreleases/ir1 8044 .htm.

4,  Vivendi Universal, S.A., SEC Litigation Release No. 18373 (Sept. 29, 2003), http://www.sec
.gov/litigation/litreleases/Ir 18373 .htm [hereinafter Vivendi Release].

5. Yuen, SEC Litigation Release No. 18135 (May 13, 2003), http://www.sec.gov/litigation/litre]
eases/Ir1 8135.htm.

6. Becausc of the narrow scope of this Comment, the SEC’s existing enforcement remedies are
discussed only briefly. Each of the authorities cited herein provides a thorough review of the remedy in
question.

7. Daniel J. Morrissey, SEC Injunctions, 68 TENN. L. REV. 427, 430 (2001).

8. Id. at 439-40; see, e.g., Securities Act of 1933 § 20(b), 15 U.S.C. § 77t (2000); Securities Ex-
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the Commission to seek a permanent injunction “[wlhenever it shall appear
to the Commission that any person is engaged or is about to engage in acts
or practices constituting a violation of any provision” of the statute.’

In order to obtain a permanent injunction against future violations of the
federal securities laws, the SEC must “go beyond the mere facts of past
violations and demonstrate a realistic likelihood of recurrence.”'® Two cir-
cuits have indicated several factors which a district court should consider in
determining whether there is a realistic likelihood that the defendant will
continue to violate the law," including:

1. the egregiousness of the violations,
2. the isolated or repeated nature of the violations,
3. the degree of scienter involved,

4. the sincerity of the defendant’s assurances, if any, against future
violations,

5. the defendant’s recognition of the wrongful nature of his conduct,

6. the likelihood that the defendant’s occupation will present oppor-
tunities (or lack thereof) for future violations, and

7. the defendant’s age and health.'

Additionally, “cessation of illegal activities in contemplation of an SEC
suit does not preclude the issuance of an injunction enjoining violations.”"
The scope of a federal court’s injunctive power is broad and can reach be-
yond the violations in any single case to include all future securities viola-
tions: “A federal court has broad power to restrain acts which are of the
same type or class as unlawful acts which the court has found to have been
committed . . . .”"* Violation of an injunction may result in criminal and
civil contempt sanctions."’

change Act of 1934 § 21(d), 15 U.S.C. § 78u(d}(1) (2000).
9. 15U.S.C. §78u(d)(1).

10. SEC v. Commonwealth Chem. Sec., Inc., 574 F.2d 90, 100 (2d Cir. 1978) (c¢iting SEC v. Uni-
versal Major Indus., 546 F.2d 1044, 1048 (2d Cir. 1976); SEC v. Parklane Hosiery, 558 F.2d 1083 (2d
Cir. 1977); and SEC v. Bausch & Lomb, Inc., 565 F.2d 8, 18 (2d Cir. 1977)); see also Aaron v. SEC,
446 U.S. 680, 701-02 (1980) (discussing the scienter that needs to be proven for a permanent injunction).

11.  See SEC v. Youmans, 729 F.2d 413, 415-16 (6th Cir. 1984); SEC v. Bonastia, 614 F.2d 908,
913 (3d Cir. 1980).

12.  Morrissey, supra note 7, at 457 (citing Youmans, 729 F.2d at 415-16; Bonastia, 614 F.2d at
913).

13.  SEC v. Manor Nursing Ctrs., Inc., 458 F.2d 1082, 1101 (2d Cir. 1972).

14.  Id at 1102 (quoting NLRB v. Express Publ’g Co., 312 U.S. 426, 435 (1941)).

15.  Ralph C. Ferrara et al., Hardball! The SEC’s New Arsenal of Enforcement Weapons, 47 Bus.
Law. 33,94 (1991).
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The SEC also may seek a preliminary injunction upon “a substantial
showing of likelihood of success as to both a current violation and the risk
of repetition.”'® In making this assessment, the court “should bear in mind
the nature of the preliminary relief the Commission is seeking, and should
require a more substantial showing of likelihood of success . . . whenever
the relief sought is more than preservation of the status quo.”"’ The Second
Circuit has explicitly stated that a finding of irreparable harm in SEC ac-
tions is unnecessary;'® however, other circuits require such a finding, which
is likely to be met where the SEC also seeks an asset freeze and makes a
showing that dissipation of assets is likely."

B. Asset Freezes

In addition to an injunction, the SEC may seek ancillary relief within a
court’s general equity powers, including disgorgement, rescission of a
transaction violating a federal securities law, and an asset freeze.”” “Such
ancillary relief is tailored to rectify past violations, to preserve the status
quo pending a final adjudication of the Commission’s enforcement claims,
or to prevent recidivism on the part of the defendant.”®' The SEC may seek
a court order temporarily freezing the assets of an alleged violator of federal
securities law in order “to insure that [the defendant’s assets] will be avail-
able to compensate public investors.””

The test for obtaining an asset freeze is merely whether the SEC is
likely to succeed on the merits of its claim against the defendant®® This
standard is similar to that of a preliminary injunction, but is weaker because
it does not require proof of a likelihood of repetition.”* Two rationales for
the lower asset freeze standard were articulated by the Second Circuit in
SEC v. Unifund SAL.” First, an asset freeze is designed to “facilitate en-
forcement of any disgorgement remedy” and thereby “assures that any
funds that may become due can be collected.””® Hence, while the freeze

16.  SEC v. Cavanagh, 155 F.3d 129, 132 (2d Cir. 1998) (citing SEC v. Unifund SAL, 910 F.2d
1028, 1039-40 (2d Cir. 1990)).

17. Unifund SAL, 910 F.2d at 1039.

18.  Id. at 1036 (citing SEC v. Torr, 87 I'.2d 446, 450 (2d Cir. 1937)).

19.  See, e.g., SEC v. Fife, 311 F.3d 1, 8 (Ist Cir. 2002) (upholding a preliminary injunction and
assel freeze issued by the district court, which applied Unifund SAL, despite a lack of finding as to ir-
reparable harm where there was evidence of “misappropriation of large amounts of investor funds” and
“the continuing existence of the accounts and entities used to perpetrate the alleged scheme™); SEC v.
Lauer, 52 F.3d 667, 671 (7th Cir. 1995) (noting that “[t]he preliminary injunction that the district judge
issued in this case was and is essential to prevent the dissipation of assets™).

20.  SEC v. Manor Nursing Ctrs., Inc., 458 F.2d 1082, 1103 (2d Cir. 1972). See generally JAMES D.
COX ET AL., SECURITIES REGULATION 879-84 (Aspen Law & Business 2001) (discussing ancillary
retief).

21.  COXET AL, supra note 20, at 879,

22.  Manor Nursing, 458 F.2d at 1106.

23.  Cavanagh, 155 F.3d at 132.

24.  Seeid

25.  Unifund SAL, 910 F.2d at 1041,

26.  Id.; see also Manor Nursing, 458 F.2d at 1105-06 (discussing the reasoning behind an asset
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facilitates restitution of defrauded investors’ capital, it also prevents unjust
enrichment of the alleged fraudster.”’ Second, “[ulnlike the injunction
against securities law violations, the freeze order does not place appellants
at risk of contempt in all future securities transactions.”® Because of the
different standards, “an ancillary remedy may be granted, even in circum-
stances where the elements required to support a traditional SEC injunction
have not been established, . . . and such a remedy is especially warranted
where it is sought for a limited duration.”® In Unifund SAL, the Second
Circuit reached just that result. The court denied a preliminary injunction
because “the Commission ha[d] not presented . . . sufficient evidence,” but
approved a limited, thirty-day asset freeze because the evidence allowed “a
basis to infer that the appellants traded on inside information.”

C. Cease-and-Desist Orders

In 1990, Congress strengthened the SEC’s enforcement authority with
the Securities Enforcement Remedies and Penny Stock Reform Act (the
“Remedies Act”).”! During consideration of the new law, SEC Chairman
Richard Breeden testified that the SEC *“viewed injunctions as both ineffec-
tive with respect to certain offenders and particularly onerous for others.”*
The new measures contained in the Remedies Act were designed to give the
Commission the ability to “seek[] a remedy commensurate with the alleged
violative conduct” and to enhance deterrence.” Significantly, the Remedies
Act conferred on the Commission the power to issue both temporary and
permanent cease-and-desist orders.” “A cease-and-desist order is an admin-
istrative remedy directing a person to stop illegal activity and to refrain
from engaging in such activity in the future.”” In conjunction with this new
authority, the Remedies Act also expanded the SEC’s administrative juris-
diction and authorized it “to proceed in its own administrative forum against

freeze).

27.  See Michael D. Mann et al., The Establishment of Intemnational Mechanisms for Enforcing
Provisional Orders and Final Judgments Arising from Securities Law Violarions, 55 LAW & CONTEMP.
PROBS. 303, 305 (1992).

28,  Unifund SAL, 910 F.2d at 1041.

29 [d (citations omitted).

30.  Id at1041-43,

31. Pub. L. No. 101-429, 104 Stat. 931 (1990) (codified as amended in scattered sections of 15
U.s.C).

32.  Ferrara, supra note 15, at 35 (citing Written Testimony of Richard C. Breeden, Chairman,
Securities and Exchange Commission, Before the Subcommittee on Securities of the Commitiee on
Banking, Housing and Urban Affairs Concerning S. 647, The “Securities Law Enforcement Remedies
Act of 1989, at 11 (Feb. 1, 1990)).

33, Id at33.

34. Id at 56 (citing 15 U.S.C. § 78u-3 (2002)). The Remedies Act also authorizes the SEC to im-
pose civil penalties for federal securities law violations, to require “an accounting and disgorgement in
cease-and-desist proceedings,” id. at 57, and to request a court order “prohibiting persons from serving
as officers and directors of reporting companies.” Id, at 34.

35. Dhaivat H. Shah, The Care and Feeding of an SEC Cease-and-Desist Order: The Commission
Defines Its Authority Through In the Matter of KPMG Peat Marwick, LLP, 25 HAMLINE L. REV. 271,
272 (2002).
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any person and to address any violation of any provision of the federal secu-
rities laws.”®

1. Permanent Cease-and-Desist Orders

The Commission is authorized to enter a permanent order requiring a
person who “is violating, has violated, or is about to violate” any federal
securities law provision “to cease-and-desist from committing the violation
or any future violation of the same provision, rule or re:gulation.”37 The
Commission must provide the person subject to the order with notice and a
hearing before an administrative law judge.® The permanent cease-and-
desist order was intended to be “a flexible remedy that operates similar to an
injunction . . . that may be used against persons ‘who commit isolated in-
fractions and present a lesser threat to investors.””® One key advantage of
the cease-and-desist order is that it does not carry with it the stigma of an
injunction, which, for example, may operate to disqualify an enjoined pex-
son from serving as an officer or director of a regulated entity and thereby
enhance incentives for settlement.* The cease-and-desist power is also po-
tentially broad in terms of ordering a person to comply with future rules and
to take actions to effectuate compliance, such as removal of a corporate
officer or director,"'

Obtaining a permanent cease-and-desist order requires “a lower risk of
future violation than is required for an injunction.”” The Commission has
stated that “although ‘some risk’ of future violations is necessary, it need
not be very great to warrant issuing a cease-and-desist order and that in the
ordinary case and absent evidence to the contrary, a finding of past violation
raises a sufficient risk of future violation.”** In considering whether to issue
a cease-and-desist order, the Commission considers factors that are “akin to
those used by courts in determining whether injunctions are appropriate.”*
Moreover, a negligence standard is used to determine whether a cease-and-
desist order should issue, whereas an injunction typically requires a higher
degree of scienter.

36. Ferrara, supra note 15, at 57.

37.  Id. at 56; see 15 U.S.C. § 78u-3(a).

38.  Ferrara, supra note 15, at 57.

39.  Id. at 58 (quoting H.R. REP. NO. 101-616, at 24 (1990)).

40.  Seeid. (citing H.R. REP. NO. 101-616, at 23-24).

41.  Id. at 58-59.

42. KPMG, LLP v. SEC, 289 F.3d 109, 124 (D.C. Cir. 2002). See generally Shah, supra note 35, at
272 (discussing the nature of the cease-and-desist authority after the SEC’s initial decision in KPMG).

43.  KPMG, 289 F.3d at 124 (quoting In re KPMG Peat Marwick LLP, Exchange Act Release No.
34-44050, 2001 WL 223378, *6 (Mar. 8, 2001)).

44.  In re KPMG Peat Marwick LLP, Exchange Act Release No. 34-43862, 2001 WL 47245, *26
{Jan. 19, 2001). The factors include “the seriousness of the violation, the isolated or recurrent nature of
the violation, the respondent’s state of mind, the sincerity of the respondent’s assurances against future
violations, the respondent’s recognition of the wrongful nature of his or her conduct, and the respon-
dent’s opportunity to commit future violations.” Id. This list is virtually identical to the first six factors
listed above for injunctions. See supra Part LA,

45. KPMG, 289 F.3d at 118-20.
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2. Temporary Cease-and-Desist Orders

The Commission is authorized to seek a temporary cease-and-desist or-
der if there is a risk of “significant dissipation or conversion of assets, sig-
nificant harm to investors, or substantial harm to the public interest.™* Such
an order requires the existence of a cease-and-desist order proceeding, no-
tice, and a hearing, although an ex parte order is possible in limited circum-
stances.”’ The availability of the temporary cease-and-desist order is de-
signed “to prevent investor losses . . . ‘esgecially when ongoing conduct
places investors in continuing jeopardy.””* Temporary orders may be re-
viewed by a federal district court.*’

The standard for issuance of a temporary cease-and-desist order is un-
developed. Despite its nearly decade-and-a-half existence, the temporary
cease-and-desist authority has been of limited use.”® However, the SEC re-
cently approved a two-year pilot program during which the National Asso-
ciation of Securities Dealers (NASD) has the authority to issue temporary
cease-and-desist orders.”’ Tn order to issue a temporary cease-and-desist
order, a NASD hearing panel “must find by a preponderance of the evidence
that the alleged violation has occurred” and “that the violative conduct or
the continuation thereof is likely to result in significant dissipation or con-
version of assets or other significant harm to investors.” Interestingly, the
Commission states that “unlike a NASD issued” order, the SEC “does not
have to find an actual violation before issuing a temporary cease and desist
order.” Thus, the temporary cease-and-desist order standard is lower than
that of an asset freeze because it rests merely on the SEC’s allegations and
requires only a showing that the allegations, if true, would result in a dissi-
pation of assets. As discussed above, an asset freeze requires at least some

46.  Ferrara, supra note 15, at 60 (quoting 15 U.S.C. § 78u-3(c) (2002)).

47. Md
48.  Id. at 61 (quoting H.R. REP. NO. 101-616, at 25 (1990)).
49. Id.

50. See In re A.R. Baron & Co., Exchange Act Release No. 34-37240, 1996 WL 273880, *1 (May
23, 1996) (noting that the Commission was considering a temporary cease-and-desist order “[f]or the
first time™). The author found no other reported uses of the temporary cease-and-desist order.

51.  Order Granting Approval to the Proposed Rule Change and Notice of Filing and Order Granting
Accelerated Approval to Amendment Nos. 3, 4, and 5 to the Proposed Rule Change by the National
Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. to Establish a Two-Year Pilot Program Relating to the Issuance of
Temporary Cease and Desist Orders, Exchange Act Release No. 34-47925, 2003 WL 21229814 (May
23, 2003). The Commussion received only five comments on the proposal, all of which were negative
except that of the North American Securities Adminisirators Association. /d. at *16. The criticism pri-
marily questioned the statutory authority for granting temporary ceases-and-desist power to NASD and
whether leveraging NASD as an enforcement resource to this extent was warranted. Id. at *16-*19.

52.  Id. at *8. Most commenters urged the adoption of a higher standard—either requiring a finding
of irreparable harm or a substantiat likelihood of future violations. /d. at *24. NASD responded that
upon a showing that the alleged conduct will harm investors by dissipating assets, “the potential harm to
the respondent if an order is issued is overshadowed by the harm that is likely to occur if the order is not
issued.” Id. at *¥25.

53 Id. at*32,
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evidentiary showing from which “to infer” that a violation has indeed oc-
curred.™

The NASD has acted relatively quickly in using its new authority. On
September 6, 2004, a NASD Hearing Panel granted the first temporary
cease-and-desist order against a small brokerage firm, ordering it to discon-
tinue two unregistered private placement offerings for itself, totaling $10
million. Additionally, the NASD ordered the firm to stop paying incentive
bonuses for new brokers or branch managers and to collect $2 million from
its parent company and deposit the funds in escrow.”® According to the
NASD release, “[t]he panel ordered this and other relief to ‘benefit custom-
ers by protecting them from exposure to additional serious violations and
further dissipation or conversion of assets.’”"’

D. Some Observations About Existing SEC Enforcement Tools

The preceding discussion of the SEC’s pre-existing enforcement reme-
dies leads to several useful observations. Most importantly, it is apparent
that the SEC possesses a broad range of devices that afford it significant
flexibility in enforcing the federal securities laws in a myriad of situations.
For example, the injunction is available for significant violations by recidi-
vists, while the temporary cease-and-desist order has been approved by the
SEC for use by NASD against small-time violators.”® Moreover, where the
SEC’s enforcement remedies are lacking, Congress has proven that it is
willing to strengthen the Commission’s authority in order to advance inves-
tor protection (albeit in waves of activity usually in the wake of widespread
losses).” It is also important to note that these tools are not limitless in their
application. In each instance, the SEC must adhere to the requirements of
due process and a judicially crafted legal standard that balances the interests
of investors and those of the alleged wrongdoers.®® As new challenges test
the limits of the SEC’s enforcement authority, lessons from the application
of these existing enforcement tools might suggest how the SEC will use its
new Section 1103 authority, and how courts will respond.

54.  See SEC v. Unifund SAL, 910 F.2d 1028, 1041 (2d Cir. 1990) (denying a preliminary injunction
because “the Commission has not presented . . . sufficient evidence,” but approving an asset freeze
because the evidence allows “‘a basis to infer that the appellants traded on inside information . . . .”"); see
supra notes 23-30 and accompanying text,

55.  National Ass'n of Securities Dealers, NASD Granted First Temporary Cease and Desist Order
to Stop Ongoing Fraud by Brokerage LH Ross (Aug. 31, 2004) [hereinafter NASD Granted], available at
http://www.nasd.com/webfideplgNldeService=8SS_GET_PAGE&nodeld=553; see also National Ass’n of
Securities Dealers, NASD Uses Cease-and-Desist Authority for First Time, Seeks Halt to Ongoing Fraud
by Brokerage LH Ross (July 27, 2004), available at http://www.nasd.com/web/Idcplg?ldcService=SS_G
ET_PAGE&nodeld=553.

56.  See NASD Granted, supra note 55,

57, Id

38.  See Fermrara, supra note 15, at 58-59 (discussing the broad nature of cease-and-desist orders).

59. Id. at60.

60. Id at64.

HeinOnline -- 56 Ala. L. Rev. 879 2004-2005



880 Alabama Law Review [Vol. 56:3:873
II. SARBANES-OXLEY FREEZE AUTHORITY
Section 1103 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act provides, in pertinent part:

Whenever, during the course of a lawful investigation involving
possible violations of the Federal securities laws by an issuer of
publicly traded securities or any of its directors, officers, partners,
controlling persons, agents, or employees, it shall appear to the
Commission that it is likely that the issuer will make extraordinary
payments (whether compensation or otherwise) to any of the fore-
going persons, the Commission may petition a Federal district court
for a temporary order requiring the issuer to escrow, subject to court
superg;ision, those payments in an interest-bearing account for 45
days.

The order is available “only after notice and opportunity for a hearing,
unless the court determines that notice and a hearing . . . would be impracti-
cable or contrary to the public interest.”® A 45-day extensmn of the order is
possible, but “the combined period of the order shall not exceed 90 days. 63
If the person subject to the temporary freeze “is charged with any violation
of the Federal securities laws before the expiration of the effective period of
a temporary order . . . the order shall remain in effect, subject to court ap-
proval, until the conclusmn of any legal proceedings related thereto. " If no
charges of federal securities violations are brought prior to the expiration of
the 45- or 90-day period, the freeze terminates.®

A. Overview

The temporary freeze authority was first proposed by President George
W. Bush as part of his “corporate responsibility” initiative, launched July 9,
2002, during his address to a group of corporate leaders on Wall Street in
New York City.®® Marc Summerlin, the Deputy Director of the National
Economic Council, stated the rationale for the proposal as follows:

Right now, corporate executives may try to enrich themselves once
the SEC has started an investigation but before the SEC has had
time . . . to file official charges against them. Under this proposal,
the SEC would be able to go to court and be able to freeze extraor-

61.  Sarbanes-Oxley Act § 1103 (2002) (codified as amended at 15 U.S.C. § 78u-3(c)(3XA)X()
(2002)).

62.  Id. (codified as amended at 15 U.S.C. § 78u-3(c)(3)(AX(i1)).

63. Id. (codified as amended at 15 U.S.C. § 78u-3(c)(3XA)Xiv)).

64. Id. (codified as amended at 15 U.S.C. § 78u-3(c)(3}B)i)).

65.  Id. (codified as amended at 15 U.S.C. § 78u-3(c)(3)(B)(ii)).

66. President George W. Bush, Remarks by the President on Corporate Responsibility (July 9
2002), available at hitp:/fwww.whitehouse.gov/news/releases/2002/07/20020709-4.huml.
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dinary payments to executives to make sure that they don’t try to
steal the company assets on the way out the door.”’

Summerlin further stated that prior to this proposal, “the SEC ha[d] the abil-
ity to stop extraordinary payments once they[] filed formal charges. But it
often takes them a good deal of time once they begin an investigation.”®
The new authority was designed “so the CEO can’t take bonuses, can’t take
huge amounts of money out of the companies [sic] coffers because he
knows trouble is coming down the road.”®

The freeze authority was introduced as an amendment to the Senate ver-
sion of Sarbanes-Oxley’ by Senator Trent Lott on July 10, 2002.”" In his
remarks describing the amendment, Senator Lott stated that “this year we
have seen just that sort of thing happening. While an investigation is under-
way, basically rewards were given to these corporate executives.”’? Accord-
ing to Senator Lott, this authority was designed to address this area “where
the law had some loopholes or where it was not timely or where it was not
strong enough.”” The Lott amendment creating the temporary freeze au-
thority passed unanimously.”*

While the above remarks focus on the punishment aspect of a Section
1103 freeze with connotations related to an unjust enrichment rationale, the
SEC has emphasized that the Section 1103 freeze authority enhances its
“ability to obtain compensation for defrauded investors.””” “[T]he Commis-
sion intends to use Section 1103 . .. as an adjunct to its historical basis for
seeking emergency relief to preserve assets that will be used to compensate
injured investors.”® Similarly, current SEC Chairman William H.
Donaldson has described Section 1103 as a “‘preventive measure’ [that]
helps to address one of the toughest challenges facing the Commission—
finding, recovering, and returning funds to defrauded investors—by secur-
ing funds before they are provided to alleged securities-law violators.””
While the Section 1103 temporary freeze authority has been labeled an en-
forcement tool, remarks such as these suggest that its purpose is remedial.
Perhaps the primary difference between the sets of remarks is spin: elected

67.  White House Background Briefing on Remarks by the President on Corporate Responsibility,
2002 WL 1463080, at 2 (July 9, 2002).

68. Id a4

69. Id at4-5.

70.  S.2673, 107th Cong. (2002).

71. 148 CONG. REC. §6524-02, S6542-43 (2002).

72. I at 86545.

73. W

74.  Id. a1 §6551 (97-0 vote).

75.  SEC, REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 308(C) OF THE SARBANES OXLEY ACT OF 2002, at 1 (Jan.
27, 2003), available at hitp:/fwww.sec.govinews/studies/sox308creport.pdf.

76, M. at23,

77.  Testimony of William H. Donaldson, Chairman, Securities and Exchange Commission, Before
the Committee on Banking, Housing and Urban Affairs Concerning Implementation of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, at 7 (Sept. 9, 2003), available at hitp:/f'www.sec.govinews/testimony/09090
3tswhd.htmn,
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officials such as Senator Lott wish to focus on preventing big-time execu-
tives from ripping off investors (read: voters), whereas the Commission is
concerned with the practical aspects of the freeze (preserving issuer assets
in the event of recovery).

B. What Standard Applies?

As a preliminary matter, it is not entirely clear what standard applies to
the issuance of a Section 1103 temporary freeze. The likelihood-of-success
standard for an asset freeze and the lower standard for a temporary cease-
and-desist order—that the alleged or threatened violation would result in
dissipation of assets—each have reasons for their recommendation. As dis-
cussed above, the practical rationale for a Section 1103 freeze on extraordi-
nary payments is similar to an asset freeze in that its aim is to preserve as-
sets for investor recovery; however, a primary purpose of a temporary
cease-and-desist order is also “to prevent dissipation or conversion of as-
sets.””® Section 1103’s language is also similar to the temporary cease-and-
desist language: where the latter provision merely requires a determination
that an alleged violation will result in dissipation of assets,” Section 1103
requires only a determination that “the issuer will make extraordinary pay-
ments (whether compensation or otherwise),” which logically leads to a
reduction in the assets of the issuer and in potential investor recovery.*
Moreover, neither Section 1103 nor the temporary cease-and-desist order
standard requires a showing on the merits of the underlying violation.

The key difference between a Section 1103 freeze and a temporary
cease-and-desist order is the requirement of federal court involvement at the
phase of issuance. This renders Section 1103 more like a short-term asset
freeze such as the one issued in Unifund SAL. A federal court will likely
require an evidentiary showing in support of the freeze motion and 1s
unlikely to grant an escrow order merely on the basis of the allegations in
the SEC’s complaint. Hence, the Commission likely must present enough
evidence to allow an inference of a violation. Because Section 1103 makes
no mention of a finding of harm to the issuer and requires only a showing
that such a payment is likely, Section 1103 likely does not require a finding
of irreparable harm. Moreover, as mentioned above, payments to departing
executives cause irreparable harm to investors because they reduce potential
recovery.

The application of the likelihood-of-success standard presents an in-
triguing problem: the temporary freeze authority exists pre-complaint.
Where the SEC has not filed a complaint, what is the measure of success?
The SEC may be required to make some showing as to what violations it
will allege in its complaint. This presents the SEC with the possibility that it

78. 15 U.S.C. § 78u-3(c)(1) (2002).
79 i
80. 15 U.S.C. § 78u-3(c)(3)(A)G).
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will reveal too much to the potential defendant. If the court accepts these
potential allegations as the measure to be used, the problem is exacerbated
by the fact that the SEC is still at the investigatory phase and may not yet
have enough information to prove that it is likely to succeed. Additionally,
where the SEC files a complaint and simultaneously requests a Section 1103
freeze, as in the case of HealthSouth, it is quite possible that the Section
1103 freeze will suffer the same fate as the asset freeze under the likeli-
hood-of-success standard.”’

. THE SECTION 1103 FREEZE IN USE

An analysis of the three instances in which the Commission has sought
to obtain a Section 1103 freeze illustrates some of the practical issues in-
volved in wielding this new authority. It also brings to light some of the
advantages and pitfalls of a temporary freeze order. In particular, the Ninth
Circuit’s final disposition of SEC v. Gemstar-TV Guide International, Inc.®?
will likely shape the boundaries of the temporary freeze authority for the
coming years,

A. SEC v. HealthSouth

On March 19, 2003, the SEC filed its complaint against HealthSouth
and Richard M. Scrushy, the company’s founder and long-time CEQO and
chairman of the board, alleging multiple violations of federal securitics
law.® The Commission petitioned for an emergency freeze of Scrushy’s
assets and escrow of extraordinary payments.* In support of its petition, the
Commission stated:

81.  See SEC v, HealthSouth Corp., 261 F. Supp. 2d 1298, 1330 (N.D. Ala. 2003).

82. 367 F.3d 1087 (9th Cir. 2004), reh'g en banc granted by, 2004 WL 2149054 (9th Cir. Sept. 24,
2004); see also Brief for Appellants, SEC v. Yuen, 2003 WL 22753861 (9th Cir. July 31, 2003) [herein-
after Brief for Appellants]; Brief for the SEC, SEC v. Yuen, 2003 WL 22753862 (9th Cir. 2003) [herein-
after Brief for the SEC]; Repiy Brief for Appellants, SEC v. Yuen, 20603 WL 23333051 (9th Cir. 2003).

83.  Complaint for Injunctive and Other Relief, SEC v. HecalthSouth Corp., No. CV-03-J-0615-3
(N.D. Ala. Mar. 19, 2003), available ar hup://www.sec.gov/litigaticn/complaints/comphealths.htm.
Specifically, in paragraphs 3 and 4 of its complaint, the Commission alleges that:

3. Defendant [HealthSouth] has engaged in, and unless restrained and enjoined by this

Court, will conlinue to engage in, acts and practices which constitute and wijl constitute vio-

lations of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 . . . Sections 10(b), 13(a), 13(b)}2)(A)

and 13(b)(2)(B) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 . . . and Rules 10b-5, 12b-20, 13a-1

and 13a-13 thereunder . . . .

4. Defendant Scrushy has engaged in, and unless restrained and enjoined by this Court, will

continue to engage in, acts and practices which constitute and will constitute violations of

Section 17(a) of the Securities Act . . . and Sections 10(b) and 13(bX5) of the Exchange Act .
. and Rules 10b-5 and 13b2-1 thereunder . . . and acts and practices that aid and abet

[HealthSouth’s} viclations . . . .

Id. 1 3-4 (citations omitted),

84.  Plaintiff’s Petition for Emergency Relief Freezing the Assets of Defendant Richard M. Scrushy
and Requiring HealthSouth Corporation to Escrow Extraordinary Payments, SEC v. HealthSouth Corp.,
No. CV-03-J-0615-S (N.D. Ala. Mar. 19, 2003) [hereinafter Plaintiff's Petition] (on file with author).
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Scrushy remains in control of [HealthSouth] and continues to have
the ability to direct extraordinary payments to himself and others
who may have participated in the violations alleged in the com-
plaint. [HealthSouth] is likely to make extraordinary payments, as it
has islg years past, as its financial results for fiscal 2002 are final-
ized.

Judge Inge Johnson issued a consent order the following day granting the
SEC’s petition for emergency relief and ordering HealthSouth to escrow
“extraordinary payments (whether compensation, bonuses, incentives or
otherwise)” to any officers or employees.*

After hearings on the asset freeze, however, the court granted the de-
fendant’s motion to dismiss the petition for emergency relief and dissolved
the asset freeze.”’ Applying Unifund SAL, the court concluded that there
was “‘a thin case for any ancillary relief” based on the evidence produced
during the hearings.”® Tn contrast to its thorough analysis of the evidence in
support of the Commission’s allegations against Scrushy, the court dealt
with the Section 1103 freeze summarily:

Assuming the court could intuit from “Scrushy remains in place as
[HealthSouth’s] Chairman of the Board and CEO and could ex-
traordinary payments (sic)” what it is the SEC alleges defendant
Scrushy might do as Chairman and CEO, the fact of the matter re-
mains that defendant Scrushy no longer holds these positions.”

The eventual rejection of the freeze in HealthSouth illustrates two im-
portant factors in Section 1103’s overall effectiveness. First, timing is criti-
cal. Although seemingly counterintuitive, it is likely that where the execu-
tive is still with the company when the SEC begins its investigation and
seeks to freeze extraordinary payments, as with Scrushy and HealthSouth,
the freeze is less likely to be effective than when the executive is leaving the
company or has already left, as with Gemstar and Vivendi, respectively.
This is because the executive can merely leave, which renders extraordinary
payments unlikely. Moreover, where an investigation is underway and the
SEC is turning up the heat by seeking the freeze, it is likely that the execu-
tive will be forced to leave the company even before he or she can work out

85.  Plaintiff’'s Certificate Pursuant to Rule 65(b) § 7, SEC v. HealthSouth, No. CV-03-J-0615-8
(N.D. Ala. Mar. 19, 2003) (on file with author); see also Plaintiff’s Petition, supra note 84, at 3.

86. Consent Order, SEC v. HealthSouth, No. CV-03-J-0615-S (N.D. Ala. Mar. 20, 2003} {on file
with anthor).

87.  HealthSouth, 261 F. Supp. 2d at 1330.

88.  Id. (quoting SEC v. Unifund SAL, 910 F.2d 1028, 1042 (2d Cir. 1990).

89.  Id. at 1305 (quoting Plaintiff’s Petition, supra note 84, at 3), Scrushy was terminated by Health-
South on March 19, 2003. /d. at 1314; see also Press Release, HealthSouth Corp., HealthSouth An-
nounces Management Changes, Cooperation with Federai Investigations (Mar. 20, 1993) (announcing
that Scrushy was placed on administrative leave), available at hutp://www.healthsouth.com/medinf
o/home/app/frame?2=article jsp,0,032003_management.
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a golden parachute severance package. As discussed further in the Gemstar
example, the board of a company under investigation is more likely to co-
operate with SEC investigators than to offer a sweet deal to an outgoing
executive who was the source of the company’s current hardships.

Another key factor in the effectiveness of an 1103 freeze is the identifi-
cation of specific payments. In the case of HealthSouth, the SEC merely
speculated that such payments were possible. While the fact that Scrushy
left HealthSouth seemed to determine the issue, the court noted later in dis-
cussing the merits of a general asset freeze that it “cannot engage in rank
speculation based on allegations in pleadings” to order an asset freeze.”® The
unwillingness of a court to speculate over future extraordinary payments to
executives may be even greater. For one, such payments may involve nego-
tiation between two parties, both of whom are being investigated and likely
want to maintain an appearance of propriety. Furthermore, any transfer that
results from such negotiations should be detected by investigators, who
could later seek a freeze on that payment. The Gemstar and Vivendi exam-
ples further illustrate this point: the SEC identified specific payments that
were due to the executives under legal agreements and was successful in
obtaining an 1103 freeze on them.

B. SEC v. Vivendi

On July 1, 2002, Vivendi CEO Jean-Marie Messier resigned from the
company he had steered toward the brink of bankruptcy, but he did not
leave empty-handed: Messier negotiated a severance package worth roughly
20.6 million euros (over $23 million).”’ After public uproar in France,
Vivendi’s new management sought to prevent the payment from going
through because it had not been approved by the company’s board; how-
ever, the agreement specified that New York state law would govern.” In
June 2003, a three-person arbitration panel sitting in New York ruled
unanimously for Messier.”® Within a month, a Paris court had frozen the
severance payment at the request of France’s Commission des Operations
de Bourse and required that shareholders give their approval.” In Septem-
ber, a New York state court affirmed the arbitration award over a motion by
Vivendi to have the panel’s decision vacated.” According to the SEC,
“[alfter negotiations between the SEC, Vivendi and Messier to reach an
agreement to postpone any further collection efforts failed,” the SEC filed

90.  HealthSouth, 261 F. Supp. 24 at 1330.

91.  John Carreyroug, SEC Decision Could Imperil Messier's Push for Severance, WALL ST. J., Dec.
22, 2003, at Al. According to this article, in his 2000 autobiography, Messier “pledged [that] he would
never seek a golden parachute” and stated that ‘“[yJou can’t have your cake and eat it too—stock options
to build your wealth and a parachute in case things go badly.” /d.

92. Id

93. Id

94,  Paris Court Freezes Messier’s Severance, WALL ST. I, July 10, 2003, at B6.

95.  Court Orders $23.1 Million Be Paid 10 Ex-CEQ Messier, WALL ST. 1., Sept. 16, 2003, at C15.

HeinOnline -- 56 Ala. L. Rev. 885 2004-2005



886 Alabama Law Review [Vol. 56:3:873

an application for a Section 1103 freeze on the payment.”® On September
24, 2003, Judge Duffy of the Southern District of New York issued two
orders granting the Section 1103 freeze on any extraordinary payments to
Messier and a temporary injunction on any attempt to collect the arbitration
judgment.”

Just three months later, the SEC settled a civil fraud action against
Vivendi, Messier, and the company’s former CFO.”® The agreement among
the parties requires Messier to “relinquish his claim to a severance package
of about []21 million [euros},” pay a $1 million civil penalty, and a $1 dis-
gorgement.” Vivendi must pay a $50 million civil penalty and a $1 dis-
gorgement.'” “The Commission intends to direct that disgorgement and
penalties paid in this case be paid to defrauded investors . . . """

The Vivendi-Messier example represents what could be called a “text-
book” model for Section 1103.'® It shows the swiftness with which the
SEC can use the authority during the investigatory phase of its case against
an issuer, As the SEC notes, it also “demonstrates the Commission’s com-
mitment to use this new authority for the benefit of shareholders.”'” The
separate assessment of penalties against the issuer and its former CEQ illus-
trates the importance of Section 1103 in assuring that the issuer, who is the
primary target of investors seeking recovery, will be able to satisfy any
judgment. The frozen payment to Messier represents roughly half of
Vivendi’s fine and can essentially be transferred from the escrow account to
investors or the SEC immediately. Finally, this open-and-shut use of the
freeze underscores the need to identify specific payments to be frozen in
order to assure effectiveness.

C. SEC v. Gemstar

In mid-August 2002, Gemstar reported that it had overstated 2001 reve-
nues by roughly $40 million."® On October 8, 2002, the company an-
nounced that Dr. Henry Yuen, the CEO, and Elsie Leung, the CFO, had
agreed to resign from their posts in exchange for stock and “restructuring
payments” totaling over $29 million and $7 million, respectively.'®® A few

96.  Vivendi Release, supra note 4. The SEC issued a formal order of investigation on November 14,
2002. Id.

97. Id.

08.  Vivendi Universal, S.A., SEC Litigation Release No. 18523 (Dec. 24, 2003), available at
hitp://www.sec.govilitigationflitreleases/Ir18523.htm.

99. Id
100. Ild.
100, Id
102.  “This action represents the first resolution of a Section 1103 action . . . .” Press Release, SEC,

Commission Settles Civil Fraud Action Against Vivendi Universal, S.A., Its Former CEO, Jean-Marie
Messier, and Its Former CFO, Guillaume Hannezo (Dec. 23, 2003), available at hitp://www.se
c.gov/news/press/2003-184.him.

103. M.

104,  SEC v. Gemstar-TV Guide Int'l, Inc., 367 F.3d 1087, 1089 (9th Cir. 2004).

105.  Press Release, Gemslar-TV Guide, Gemstar Approves Management Changes; Jeff Shell to
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days later, the SEC launched a formal investigation into the company and its
management.'” On November 6, 2002, one day before the management
changes were to be confirmed publicly, Gemstar agreed, at the SEC’s re-
quest, to place the restructuring payments to Yuen and Leung in escrow for
six months.'”’

1. District Court Proceedings

On March 31, 2003, Yuen and Leung sued the SEC, seeking an injunc-
tion dissolving this “extra-judicial escrow.”'® In their complaint, Yuen and
Leung claim that they were due the restructuring payments after agreeing to
resign from the company before the end of their employment contracts, but
that the SEC intimidated Gemstar’s board into agreeing to escrow the pay-
ments, thus circumventing Section 1103.'” Yuen and Leung’s motion to
dissolve the escrow was ultimately rejected by the district court, and on
May 12, 2003, Judge W. Matthew Byrne entered a Section 1103 order
wherein the Commission and Gemstar agreed that “no future extraordinary
payments shall be made to any Gemstar director, officer, partner, control-
ling person, agent, or c:mployee.”“0 On June 19, 2003, the SEC filed a civil
securities fraud action against Yuen and Leung alleging that they had en-
gaged in several complex schemes that caused Gemstar to overstate reve-
nues by roughly $223 million over three years.'"!

To this point the Gemstar example shows the extent to which the SEC
may be effective in imposing hardship on a potential defendant without fed-
eral court involvement. It is fair to say that despite its inclusion in the provi-
sion conferring the Commission’s cease-and-desist authority, Section 1103
of Sarbanes-Oxley does not authorize unilateral SEC action. Rather, Section
1103 specifically requires judicial oversight of a temporary freeze and al-
lows for the entry of a freeze order “‘only after notice and opportunity for a
hearing, unless the court determines that notice and hearing prior to entry of
the order would be impracticable or contrary to the public interest.”''* Here,

Become CEO, available at hitp://www.gemstartvguide.com/pressroom/display_pr.asp?prld=i31.

106.  Press Release, Gemstar-TV Guide, Gemstar Announces Transition of SEC Investigation to
Formal Status, available ar http://www.gemstartvguide.com/pressroom/display_pr.asp?prld=132.

107.  See Gemstar-TV Guide, 367 F.3d at 1089.

108.  Comptaint for Injunctive and Declaratory Relief, Yuen v. SEC, No. CV 03-2219, 2003 Extra
LEXIS 13, *1-*2 (C.D. Cal. Mar. 31, 2003).

109.  Id. at ¥12-*13,

110.  Inre SEC v. Yuen, 2003 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 8707, *2-*3 (C.D. Cal. May 12, 2003).

111, Complaint for Violations of the Federal Securities Laws, SEC v. Yuen, No. CV 03-376 { 3
(C.D. Cal. June 19, 2003), available at hup/fwww.sec.govilitigation/co mplaints/comp18199 pdf.
“Since Yuen and Leung resigned . . . Gemstar has restated or reversed approximately $357 million in
revenue . .. " Id. § 7. The Commission claims that Yuen and Leung benefited from the fraud “[blecause
their compensation was tied to Gemstar's reported financial results.” /d. 8. The SEC secks a permanent
injunction against both Yuen and Leung from additional securities law violations, an order prohibiting
them from serving as officer or director of an issuer, disgorgement of “ill-gotten gains,” and civil penal-
ties. Id. at 34-35 (Prayer for Relief).

112.  Sarbanes-Oxley Act § 1103 (codified as amended at 15 U.S.C. § 78u-3(c)(3)A)X1i) (2002))
(emphasis added).
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however, the SEC succeeded in obtaining an effective freeze on the pay-
ments “owed” to Yuen and Leung for nearly six months without federal
court sanction due to the cooperation afforded by Gemstar’s board. More-
over, the court’s freeze order of May 12, 2003, preceded the Commission’s
complaint by over a month. This example also shows that a court may be
more likely to authorize a freeze where the funds at issue have already been
placed in escrow by the time the court rules on the Commission’s actual
Section 1103 motion.

2. The Parties’ Arguments on Appeal

Yuen and Leung filed an appeal of the district court’s escrow order on
July 31, 2003."? Their two primary arguments were: (1) that the escrowed
payments had already been paid to them into scparate accounts, and (2) that
the restructuring payments were not “extraordinary payments’” subject to a
Section 1103 freeze.'"* These contentions are useful in analyzing the poten-
tial applications of the Section 1103 freeze authority by answering the fol-
lowing questions: To whom does the freeze apply? When must it be sought?
And finally, what payments can be frozen?

a. To Whom and When?

Pointing to the requirement that the SEC find “it likely that the ‘issuer
will make extraordinary payments,”” Yuen and Leung made two textual
arguments.'" First, they contended that Section 1103 applies only to issuers
and therefore not to individuals such as themselves.''® While correct in that
the statute authorizes a court order “requiring the issuer to escrow . . . pay-
ments,”'"” it is likely that Section 1103’s scope matches that of the tempo-
rary cease-and-desist authority, which extends to persons required to be
registered with the SEC, including issuers, and persons associated with a
registered entity, which would include the issuer’s CEO and CFO."®

Their second textual argument was that Section 1103 applies only to po-
tential future payments and not those that had already been made by the
company.119 While this particular issue depends on the interpretation of the
agreement providing for the segregated accounts,'” Yuen and Leung’s line

113.  See Brief for Appellants, supra note 82.

114.  Id. at *15-*16. Yuen and Leung also contend that Section 1103 is void for vagueness; that
Section 1103 constitutes an unreasonable seizure in violation of the Fourth Amendment; and that 1103
was applied retroactively to payments that were essentially accrued compensation. /d. However, these
arguments are beyond scope of this Comment. The Niath Circuit also did not address these arguments.
See Gemstar-TV Guide, 367 F.3d at 1088.

115.  Brief for Appellants, supra note 82, at *27 {quoting 15 U.S.C. § 78u-3(c)3)(A)(i) (emphasis
omitted)).

116. Id

117.  Sarbanes-Oxley Act § 1103 (codified as amended at 15 U.S.C.§ 78u-3(c}3)(A)(i)).

118.  See Ferrara, supra note 15, at 60-61.

119.  Brief for Appellants, supra note 82, at *27.

120.  Yuen and leung claimed that the payments had been paid 1o them per an agreement with the
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of reasoning serves to reiterate a point made with the HealthSouth example:
timing of the Section 1103 freeze is critical to its success. The timing issue
here, however, is different from the one raised earlier in that it illustrates
what could happen if the SEC is too late in seeking a freeze. The SEC es-
sentially has to know beforehand when payments will be made in order to
freeze them. With Gemstar, the SEC caught the payments while they were
being negotiated out the door. With HealthSouth, however, the SEC was
less fortunate since no payments were readily anticipated, although the risk
of payment to Scrushy essentially went out the door when he did.

b. Extraordinary Payments

The crux of Yuen and Leung’s opposition to the Section 1103 freeze
was that the payments at issue were not extraordinary. In support of this
argument, they made two key contentions. First, they claimed that the legis-
lative history of Sarbanes-Oxley indicates that a Section 1103 freeze is ap-
propriate only as applied to improper or unwarranted payments.'?' Yuen and
Leung stated that “[t]he District Court plainly misinterpreted this legislative
history when it chose not to consider the specific sources and makeup of the
payments at issue to determine whether the payments to Yuen or Leung
were ‘increased payments,” were ‘improper payments,” or constituted the
‘pilfering’ of Gemstar assets.”'* After pointing out that the payments were
negotiated, actually resulted in reduced payments to the former CEO and
CFO, and were decided upon “before the SEC even commenced its formal
investigation,” they concluded that “it is clear that the Restructuring Pay-
ments were not the sort of illegitimate grab for funds that Section 1103 was
designed to prohibit.”'*

The SEC focused on the plain language of the statute and encouraged a
broad and flexible interpretation.'** The Commission pointed out that Sec-
tion 1103 “explicitly states that ‘extraordinary payments’ may include
‘c:ompensation.”"25 Additionally, the SEC took issue with a reading of the
statute that limits it “to payments made without a board of director’s au-
thorization” because the text of the statute makes no mention of exempting
board-approved payouts.'” Addressing the appeliants’ leglslatlve history

company and were merely being held in separate accounts. /4. Moreover, they asserted that “[u]nder no
circumstances was the money to revert to Gemstar.” Id. at *28. Not surprisingly, the SEC viewed the
agreement differently and argued that “the funds placed into the segregated account . . . [were to} be
retained by [Gemstar] and remain [Gemstar] property until” an agreement was reached by the SEC and
Yuen and Leung or the expiration of the six-month period. Brief for the SEC, supra note 82, at *¥30-*31,
121.  Brief for Appellants, supra note 82, at *30-*31,

122, Id at *31.

123, Id at *32.

124.  Brief for the SEC, supra note 82, at *34.

125.  1Id. at *37.

126. Id.
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argument, the SEC advocated an interpretation of “improzper”l as meaning
“unfair and unethical” rather than “without authorization.”"*’

Yuen and Leung are correct in that the political focus of Sarbanes-
Oxley, and Section 1103 in particular, has been on punishing wrongdoers
who take advantage of the investing public. However, this argument does
not take into account the practical purpose of a Section 1103 freeze: to as-
sure investor recovery from an issuer that has violated the federal securities
laws. In that context, the merits of a Section 1103 freeze have little to do
with the motives behind any such payments. Rather, a freeze on extraordi-
nary payments scems warranted regardless of whether they were properly
earned or were the result of outright pilfering. This is similar in effect to an
asset freeze, which may issue where an inference of wrongdoing exists even
though in most cases not all, or even most, of the frozen assets were ob-
tained as a direct result of the alleged violation. Moreover, in many in-
stances, the CEO of an issuer may be awarded a compensation package—
consisting of a large salary, a favorable bonus structure, and a golden para-
chute—that is not necessarily in the sharcholders’ best interests at a time
when the company’s shares are soaring and the shareholders have little rea-
son to object. The broader point is that the political rhetoric in support of
Section 1103 has little bearing on how the SEC will use the freeze as an
adjunct to a traditional asset freeze and other equitable relief, which is not
only to prevent future harm to the shareholders but also to assure compensa-
tion for past harm.

Yuen and Leung’s other primary contention, and the basis of the Ninth
Circuit’s decision vacating the escrow order discussed below, was that the
circumstances surrounding the payments show that they were not extraordi-
nary.'”® The district court’s finding that the restructuring payments were
extraordinary payments relied on three circumstances: “(i) the payments
were the product of substantial negotiation, (ii) the payments were con-
nected to Yuen and Leung’s departure from Gemstar and the related restruc-
turing, an event which Gemstar reported in an 8-K filing and (iii) the pay-
ments were ‘large.”””'?® As to the first point, Yuen and Leung argued that the
extensive negotiation of the payments “demonstrates that the payments were
carefully considered,”*® They also noted that the court “made no finding
that the payments . . . were not believed to be in the best interests of Gem-
star by its Board, the Special Committee, and outside counsel ! Secondly,
Yuen and Leung pointed out that “[a] onetime payment of an existing enti-
tlement to a departing senior executive is a wholly ordinary aspect of
American corporate life.””'* Finally, they contended that their size “says

127. K at *39 n.28.
128.  Brief for Appellants, supre note 82, al *32,

129. Id

130.  Id at *¥32-%33,
131, Id at*33.
132, Id at *34.
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nothing about the ordinary or extraordinary nature of the payments” in the
absence of evidence of Yuen’s and Leung’s pre-existing entitlements or
other “severance payments paid to similarly situated departing CEOs and
CFOs.”'® '

The SEC countered that the five-month negotiation process, during
which Yuen and Leung, Gemstar’s Board, and the Special Committee were
represented by separate counsel, was extraordinary.'* The Commission also
pointed to the sheer size of the payment amounts—totaling over $29 million
to Yuen and $8 million to Leung—as “clearly extraordinary.”"* In response
to the appellants’ three contentions discussed above, the SEC argued that “if
Section 1103 did not . . . apply to payments approved by a corporation’s
board, the statute would provide almost no assistance to sharcholders.”'*¢
The SEC next contended that “Section 1103 does not carve out an exception
for pre-existing contracts.”™’ Finally, the SEC contended that the circum-
stances and absolute size of the payments alone are sufficient to support a
finding that the payments were extraordinary."®

3. The Ninth Circuit’s Initial Decision

In a 2-1 decision, a panel of the Ninth Circuit vacated the district court’s
escrow order “[bJecause there was no evidence as to what would be an ordi-
nary payment under comparable circumstances.”"*® The majority disagreed
with the district court’s findings that the payments were extraordinary on
the three grounds discussed above. As for the extensive negotiation of the
payments, the panel concluded that the involvement of many sophisticated
parties over five months did not indicate that the payments were extraordi-
nary: “[FJor all the persons involved in the negotiations, not one presented
evidence . . . that the period or mechanics of the negotiations were out of the
ordinary in view of the circumstances.”'* Next the court determined that
while the $37 million payments “are ‘extraordinary payments’ in relation to
what federal judges are paid,” the size of the payments alone is insufficient
for a finding that they were extraordinary.141 Instead, the district court
should receive evidence “‘of what similarly placed officers and board mem-
bers of corporations of similar revenues and worth are paid upon termina-

133, W

134.  Brief for the SEC, supra note 82, at *39-*40.
135. Id.

136. Id. at *40.

137.  Id. at *40-*4]1,

138.  Seeid. at *42.

139.  SEC v. Gemstar-TV Guide Int’l, Inc., 367 F.3d 1087, 1088 (9th Cir. 2004). Judge Carlos T. Bea
and Judge Johnnie B. Rawlinson voted to vacate, id., while Judge Stephen Trott dissented. /d. at 1095-
1108 (Trott, J., dissenting).

140. Id. at 1092-93. The panel also stated that “[w]hile common experience of the district court might
help to determine what is the usual way to negotiate the termination of a lawyer at a law firm or a staff
member of the court, common experiences of this kind do not aid judgment in the circumstances of
Appellants’ termination at Gemstar.” /d. at 1093.

141. id.
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tion.”'*? Finally, the court dismissed the Form 8-K filing for payments “ap-
proximating 15% of the previous year’s revenues” as unsurprising “[i]n this
era of heightened corporate vigilance,” and determined that “a discretionary
corporate disclosure is not an admission that the company has paid an ‘ex-
traordinary’ amount,”'®

The court determined that “[t]he bases used by the district court to judge
the negotiations, the payments, and the filing were ‘irreducibly subjec-
tive.””'* The panel analogized the inquiry into whether payments to execu-
tives are “‘extraordinary” to other instances in which a court must determine
whether an amount is superlative, for example, the reasonableness of attor-
ney’s fees,'* extraordinary probate fees,'* and “ordinary and necessary”
business expenses.'*’ In these cases as well as in the Section 1103 inquiry,
whether “the case at hand falls outside the bounds permitted in the compari-
son cases” is the critical inquiry."® In conclusion, the court held that “[n]ot
mere government assertion, but proof by admissible objective evidence of
what is ordinary is necessary to allow a court to determine what is extraor-
dinary.”"*

In his dissent Judge Trott sided with the SEC in much the same way that
the majority sided with Yuen and Leung, advocating a straightforward in-
terpretation of Section 1103 informed by its purpose:

“Extraordinary” simply means, in plain language, out of the ordi-
nary. In this context—and the context is the key—"out of the ordi-
nary” simply means a payment made not in the customary or nor-
mal pursuit of the regular trade or business of the issuer under scru-
tiny, but in response to an irregular or abnormal demand of the mo-
ment that reasonably appears to have been provoked or motivated
by or connected to the possible violations of securities laws that
triggered the investigation. '

In his view, “the measure of ‘extraordinary’ is what ordinarily goes on in
the process of the issuer’s business . . . .”'>' In this case, Judge Trott be-
lieved that there was significant evidence that the payments were extraordi-
nary in light of Gemstar’s ordinary business and the circumstances in-
volved: the payments totaled five and six times Yuen's and Leung’s base
salary, respectively, and consisted of bonuses derived from fraudulently
inflated financial results, which precipitated the payees’ ouster, a significant

142.  Id at 1094,

143, Id.

144,  Id. (quoting Nunez v. San Diego, 114 F.3d 935, 943 (9th Cir. 1997)).
145, Id at 1095 n.7.

146. Id.
147.  Id at 1095.
148.  Id
149. fd.

150.  Id. at 1106 (Trou, 1., dissenting).
151.  Id. at 1107 (Trott, J., dissenting).
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fall in the company’s stock, and an ongoing securittes fraud investigation.”*
Finally, Judge Trott highlighted the overarching purpose of Section 1103: to
“ensure[l]sathat recovery by way of disgorgement, etc., is effective rather than
empty.”

On September 24, 2004, the Ninth Circuit voted to rehear SEC v. Yuen
en banc and vacate the panel’s decision.'” As of this writing, the appeal
remains pending.'”

4. Extraordinary Payments Redux: When What Is Extraordinary
Really Is Extraordinary

The arguments regarding whether the restructuring payments to Yuen
and Leung are “extraordinary” per Section 1103 highlights the tension be-
tween the competing aims of using the temporary freeze authority as an
enforcement tool and using it as a remedial tool. For example, Yuen and
Leung urge that the payments are not extraordinary because they were
“carefully considered,” authorized by Gemstar’s Board, and resulted from a
contractual entitlement—all of which provide an imprimatur of acceptable,
and therefore non-sanctionable, corporate conduct. The Commission, on the
other hand, relies primarily on the “sheer size” of the payments and dis-
misses the corporate formalities as irrelevant because in their view, one can
posit from their arguments, Section 1103’s entire purpose is to keep money
that could be used to compensate investors from going out the door. As dis-
cussed above, understanding Section 1103 within the context of the SEC’s
pre-existing enforcement remedies (a description which reinforces this di-
chotomy) supports the SEC’s position.

The opinion of the majority of the Ninth Circuit panel emphasizes a re-
lated point: that the legal standard applied significantly affects the efficacy
of the remedy. While the standard for issuance of an escrow order is not
directly affected by what legal test is used for determining whether a pay-
ment is extraordinary, requiring proof of what is “ordinary” and not allow-
ing the circumstances to speak for themselves implicitly increases the bur-
den on the SEC to prove that the payments are the product of a fraudulent
scheme. This would be especially true where a comparison of the payments
at issue to payments made by other companies to departing executives re-
veals no significant deviation on the part of the issuer under investigation.
To offset such a showing, it is likely that the Commission would be com-
pelled to reveal a significant amount about the underlying violations in or-
der to justify the freeze—a de facto standard that begins to border on the
likelihood-of-success test for an asset freeze. Moreover, the majority’s re-

152.  Seeid. (Trou, J., dissenting).

153, Id. (Trott, I., dissenting).

154.  SECv. Yuen, 2004 WL 2149054 (9th Cir. Sept. 24, 2004) (en banc).

155.  This section of the Comment was finalized prior to the Ninth Circuit’s revised opinicn, dis-
cussed below. See infra note 157 and accompanying text.
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quirement that the payments and the circumstances surrounding them be
shown to be extraordinary relative to other ordinary payments undercuts the
purpose of Section 1103 because it fails to focus on why a freeze is neces-
sary in the first place: to prevent pilfering and to secure investor recovery
where an investigation into wrongdoing is already underway.

In light of Section 1103’s remedial purpose and the language of the
statute, it seems clear that the payments to Yuen and Leung are “extraordi-
nary payments.” While that term implies a one-time largess, as the Commis-
sion noted, Section 1103 specifically mentions compensation. Section 1103
also contemplates the possibility that multiple payments to multiple insiders
may be frozen—an authority that theoretically extends to what may truly be
described as ordinary corporate practice, such as incentive bonuses for man-
agement. While “extraordinary” denotes that the circumstances of such
payments are important, extensive negotiation and board approval of pay-
ments like those to Yuen and Leung are far from atypical. Therefore, it is of
little help to require a comparison across issuers which would potentially
pressure the SEC to make a showing as to the underlying fraudulent con-
duct. Finally, it should be remembered that an existing SEC investigation is
a necessary predicate to a temporary freeze. It is not unreasonable, espe-
cially in light of the remedial purposes of Section 1103, to determine that
any sizeable payments made during an SEC investigation are extraordinary,
regardless of whether they were negotiated, approved by the Board, or oth-
erwise routine.

V. CONCLUSION

As a significant increase in the SEC’s enforcement power, Sarbanes-
Oxley will likely be discussed, analyzed, and criticized for years to come.'®
This Comment has argued that Section 1103 is a handy addition to the
Commission’s existing authority to seek injunctive and ancillary relief, in-
cluding disgorgement, but that it is likely to be effective only where the
SEC, during an investigation, learns that one of the issuer’s executives is
planning to take flight with a golden parachute. Because of this narrow win-
dow, timing and the ability to identify specific payments are critical to the
success of a Section 1103 freeze.

Despite these hurdles, the Section 1103 temporary freeze authority
shows promise in bringing an issuer to the negotiation table before litiga-
tion, especially when new executives are willing to cooperate with the
Commission in freezing payments to former executives in hopes of lessen-
ing the issuer’s own penalty. Courts may also prefer a targeted Section 1103
freeze to a general asset freeze due to concern about disrupting an issuer’s
business. Finally, the SEC can expect to find significant resistance from

156.  See, e.g., Jill E. Fisch & Kenneth M. Rosen, /s There a Role for Lawyers in Preventing Future
Enrons?, 48 VILL. L. REV. 1091 (2003).
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payees with regard to what exactly makes a payment “extraordinary.” Given
the statutory language that specifically includes compensation and the pro-
vision’s primarily remedial goal, it is likely that the SEC will not have diffi-
culty proving that a payment is extraordinary in the circumstances which are
most likely to give rise to the need to invoke Section 1103. As a result, the
SEC is likely to find the provision effective in assisting investor recovery in
a handful of high-profile cases, but its ability to supplement the Commis-
sion’s existing enforcement authority may be limited.

POSTSCRIPT

On March 22, 2005, after the finalization of the above Comment, the
Ninth Circuit issued a revised opinion."’ Judge Trott, now writing for the
majority, articulated the following test for the issuance of a Section 1103
order:

“Extraordinary” means, in plain language, out of the ordinary. In
the context of a statute aimed at preventing the raiding of corporate
assets, “out of the ordinary” means a payment that would not typi-
cally be made by a company in its customary course of business.
The standard of comparison is the company’s common or regular
behavior."®

The court delineated several factors relevant to this determination: the
circumstances, purpose, and size of the payment; any “nexus between the
suspected wrongdoing and the payment itself”’; and a comparison of the
payment to industry custom.'®”® The court affirmed the district court’s issu-
ance of the temporary freeze order based on the complicated five-month
negotiation process that preceded the payments, the fact that the payments
were essentially made in exchange for the termination of Yuen and Leung,
the multiple of the payments to Yuen and Leung’s base salaries (five and six
times, respectively), and a determination that the severance payments were
greater than Yuen and Leung would have been entitled to under their exist-
ing employment agreements.'® Finally, the court agreed that because Yuen
and Leung’s bonuses were directly tied to Gemstar's performance, which
was allegedly fraudulently overstated, the nexus factor supported the
freeze. !

The concurring judges would have adopted a much broader test: “[A}l/
severance packages due top corporate officers and officials, and any other
substantial non-routine payments to which they may be entitled, constitute

157.  SEC v. Gemstar-TV Guide Int'l, Inc., 401 F.3d 1031 (9th Cir. 2005).
158. Id. at 1045.

159. Id.
160.  Id. at 1046.
161.  Id The court also allowed an adverse inference from Yuen’s assertion of his Fifth Amendment

rights during the SEC’s investigation of his compensation. /d.
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‘extraordinary payments’ . . . .”'** Their main point of disagreement with
Judge Trott is whether an analysis of the circumstances of the payment at
issue and the nexus element are necessary or even relevant. Preferring a
bright-line rule that would not burden the SEC in the early stages of an in-
vestigation when it is most likely to seek a Section 1103 order, Judges
Reinhardt and Graber would find that “a severance payment is an extraordi-
nary payment regardless of the circumstances.”'® In his dissent, Judge Bea
disagreed with the majority’s construction of Section 1103. In his view,
“Section 1103 empowers the SEC to escrow ‘extraordinary payments,’ not
payments made under extraordinary circumstances, particularly where ‘ex-
traordinary circumstances’ means little if anything more than that the com-
pany is under investigation for securities violations.”'® To determine
whether the payments are extraordinary, Judge Bea would conduct a com-
pany-to-company comparison, wherein the payments at issue would be
compared to payments made to similarly-situated employees at similar firms
not under investigation by the SEC.'® Presumably, under this test, if the
suspect payments differ substantially from the comparison payments, then
they are extraordinary.

Judge Trott’s standard is a common-sense middle ground that gives ef-
fect to both the remedial purpose of Section 1103 and the clear language of
the statute.'® While Congress’s intent was to prevent unjust enrichment, it
seems clear—as this Comment has advanced—that the SEC intends to use
its temporary freeze authority as an adjunct to its existing ability to obtain
compensation for defrauded investors. A flexible, multi-factor test will al-
low the SEC to obtain a freeze where the circumstances surrounding the
company under investigation indicate that investors would not otherwise be
able to protect themselves. Judge Trott’s approach also does not sweep too
broadly by bringing in severance payments without first determining
whether they are made under circumstances which make them extraordi-
nary.'®” Finally, the multi-factor test gives effect to the key modifier, ex-
traordinary, without limiting it to the most egregious situations where an
executive negotiates a golden parachute that is more golden than those
given by comparable companies.

One issue not explicitly addressed by the Gemstar court is the standard
that should apply to the issuance of a Section 1103 temporary freeze.'®® The
court noted that excerpts from the declaration prepared by the Commission

162.  Id. at 1048 (Reinhardt, J., concurring). Judge Reinhardt was joined by Judge Graber. /d.

163.  Id. at 1050 (Reinhardt, J., concurring).

164.  Id at 1060 (Bea, J., dissenting). Judge Bea wrote the initial Ninth Circuit majority opinion. See
SEC v. Gemstar-TV Guide Int’l, Inc., 367 F.3d 1087 (9th Cir. 2004).

165. 401 F.3d at 1356 (Bea, J., dissenting). This is a more detailed statement of the standard which
Judge Bea articulated in the initial Ninth Circuit decision in this case. See supra note 142,

166.  See supra Part [1.C 4.

167.  Although, as suggested in this Comment, this interpretation is plausible. See supra Part H1.C 4.
Perhaps the ultimate difference between these approaches is the importance of the amount of the pay-
ment at issue.

168,  See supra Part ILB.
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in support of the temporary freeze order “sound much like the allegations of
probable cause to be found in a standard search warrant.”'® However, the
SEC’s argument focused on the circumstances surrounding the payments,
not the fraud itself. Hence, it is likely that a mere showing that the payments
will be made is sufficient to obtain a freeze without having to prove a likeli-
hood of success on the merits. The “nexus” factor in the majority test de-
scribed above, however, may increase the SEC’s burden in this regard.

Wesley Bowen Gilchrist

169. 401 F.3d at 1039. These excerpts provide detailed information on testimony, subpoenas, and
other evidence, and present an overview of the factual evidence. See id. at 1039-41. The SEC also sub-
mitted a memorandum of law that advanced the same arguments made on appeal. See id. at 1041-44;
supra notes 124-127 and 134-138.

HeinOnline -- 56 Ala. L. Rev. 897 2004- 2005



HeinOnline -- 56 Ala. L. Rev. 898 2004-2005



